RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 09, 2014, 4:17 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

COA# 46590-6 No. 89609-7

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TILLMAN CARR, individually; CAL FARRER and JENELL FARRER, a marital community; KUO-YING FRENZEL, individually; JULIE GANAS, individually; WILLIAM B. MINAGLIA, individually; DARRYL and ROSE HUDSON, a marital community KEITH PETERSON, individually; KATHRYN DEBERNARDI, individually; KATHERINE MEADE, individually; ROB AND SHARA COFFMAN, a marital community, and PAMELA SMITH, individually,

Appellants,

v.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

In passing Initiative 1183 to privatize the sale of liquor in the State of Washington, the People of Washington State recognized that existing nonemployee contract liquor store operators ("Store Owners") would be harmed by the proposed privatization change. At the time of I-1183, Plaintiff Store Owners were "under then existing contracts for supply by the board of distilled spirit." These contracts did not expire until 2016. Thus, the Store Owners had four years left on their term when I-1183 was enacted. Nonetheless, the new legislation specifically provided protections to insure Store Owners in the business of selling state liquor held on consignment were not economically harmed by I-1183's passage. In other words, while People of Washington wanted government out of the liquor

RCW 66.24.620(6)(b)(emphasis added).

business, the private, small businesses who were selling state owned distilled spirits held on consignment were not to be harmed by the transition to privatization. Consequently, I-1183 was crafted to protect these small businesses by specifically requiring the State to "avert harm". This was to be accomplished by applying specifically identified revenues to compensate the Store Owners for any harm caused by having their State contracts terminated as a result of I-1183. Despite this explicit legislative direction, the State brazenly ignored the plain language of I-1183 and refused to comply with its Without any substantive legal express statutory requirements. analysis of either the statutory language or its intent, the Trial Court erred in issuing its 11/4/13 Letter Opinion (CP 00850-856)(Appendix A hereto) ruling that the Statute created no substantive obligations for the State to "avert harm". The Trial Court's erroneous rulings left the Contract Liquor Store Owners with no remedy to enforce the State's failure/refusal to "avert harm". As explained below, the Trial Court committed further error by dismissing Plaintiffs' statutory claim, as well as all remaining claims on Summary Judgment. (CP 00850-856).

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Court Erred In Granting the State's Motion for Summary Judgment Dismissing Plaintiffs' Claims Erroneously Ruling That:
  - A. The Store Owners' "particular contracts were not substantially impaired". (CP 00851).
  - B. I-1183 "does not direct compensation to the affected parties but rather that the funds be used to avert harm." (CP 00853).
  - C. "There does not appear to be a fund set aside for compensation to plaintiffs." (CP 00853).
  - D. "There is no clear intent to provide compensation to plaintiffs and therefore no statutory claim of action." (CP 00854).
  - E. "The People did not intend" for Store Owners to have a cause of action for the State's failure/refusal to engage in reasonable harm aversion. (CP 00854).
  - F. The State did not improperly fail to develop rules and procedures to address Store Owners' claims that I-1183 unconstitutionally impaired State contracts. (CP 00855).
  - G. It would have been futile "and a disservice to taxpayers who would have to fund the meaningless effort" of developing rules and procedures to address constitutional claims of Store Owners. (CP 00855).

- H. The Store Owner contracts were terminated by "mutual agreement" and "there was no breach." (CP 00855).
- I. The Store Owners had no "present and enforceable right" of continuing contract benefits. (CP 00855-6).
- 2. The Court Erred By Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

#### III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

- 1. Whether the State was required to avert harm suffered by Contract Liquor Store Owners as a result of having their Contracts terminated?
- 2. Whether RCW 66.24.620(6)(b) required the State to apply operating and asset sales revenue to avert harm to the Plaintiffs Store Owners?
- 3. Whether Initiative 1183 and RCW 66.24.620 created a private cause of action to ensure compliance by the State?
- 4. Whether the State violated RCW 66.24 et seq. and I-1183 by failing to avert Plaintiffs' harm and/or to provide compensation for the impairment of Plaintiffs' contracts?
- 5. Whether the State breached Initiative 1183 by failing to provide a claims process for Contract Liquor Store Owners harmed by Initiative 1183?
- 6. Whether a finding that Initiative 1183 did not create a private cause of action rendered Initiative 1183 unconstitutional?
- 7. Whether the State's failure to avert harm to the Plaintiffs, unconstitutionally impaired their Contracts?

- 8. Whether Initiative 1183 constituted an unconstitutional taking without just compensation?
- 9. Whether the State's early termination of the Store Owners' Contracts upon passage of I-1183 constituted an actionable breach of contract?
- 10. Whether the State's early termination of the Store Owners' Contracts upon passage of I-1183 constituted a taking or damage to their contract rights?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. The Contract Liquor Store Owners.

Plaintiffs are all contract liquor store operators ("Store Owners") with stores located in a number of locations throughout Washington State.<sup>2</sup> Immediately preceding passage of Initiative 1183, each Plaintiff had existing Contracts with the Liquor Control Board ("State") for five year terms – 6/30/11 through 6/30/16. (CP 126 – 489). Plaintiffs all had operated under prior Contracts with the State as well. For example, Mr. Carr and Ms. Coffman had become contract liquor owners in 2002, Ms. Ganas in 2006, and the Farrers in 2007. (CP 564-569; 624-629; 610-617)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Including, Cheney (Carr); Liberty Lake (Farrer); Richland (Frenzel); Leavenworth (Ganas); Port Hadlock (Norris, f/k/a DeBernardi); Greenacres (Petersen); Wilbur (Coffman); Republic (Meade); Coupeville (Smith); Duvall (Minaglia); and Ephrata (Hudson).

The Plaintiff Store Owners in making their business decisions relied upon representations by the State that their Contracts were to be for a term of 5 years in duration. For instance, at the urging of the State, the Farrers made the decision to sell their home and to invest their retirement in order to open a State Liquor Store in Liberty Lake. (CP 610-617). This included investing in substantial tenant improvements in direct reliance upon their Contract having a term length that allowed them to recoup that investment. Id. the Store Owners incurred expenses in direct reliance upon the Contract term that provided time to recoup their investment. Id. (See also CP 624-629 - invested the expense of a new location and incurred expenses for tenant improvements based upon the length of the Contract; CP 630-637 - purchased a building and invested in new point of sale software and remodeling). As explained below, the loss of the Store Owners' investments, including expectancy of a reasonable return, is just a sampling of the unaddressed harm suffered by the Store Owners as a result of the State's refusal/failure to abide by the statutory mandates of I-1183.

## B. <u>History Behind Initiative 1183.</u>

During prohibition, neither private citizens nor the State of Washington had authority to sell intoxicating liquors. In 1933, the 21<sup>st</sup> Amendment to the United States Constitution provided each state with the authority to regulate the sale of liquor within its boundaries. Since that time, authority to the States has not been withdrawn, reduced or limited, including Washington State.

Initiative 1183 was legislation brought by the People of Washington to privatize the sale of liquor in Washington. The Initiative was intended to get "state government out of the business of distributing, selling, and promoting the sale of liquor...". Thus, I-1183 provided that all state liquor stores were to close by 6/1/12. At that time, there were approximately 160 Contract Liquor Stores and 167 "state" owned liquor stores. When I-1183 was passed on 11/8/11, it took effect by operation of law on 12/8/11. As a result, effective that date, performance of State Contracts with the Store Owners was unilaterally terminated.

Uniquely, I-1183 included specific provisions to account for damage and harm that was anticipated to be suffered by Store

Owners upon passage. To that end, I-1183 created an anticipated pool of revenues from the sale of (1) liquor store assets; (2) the State's Distribution Center; and (3) revenue's obtained by auctioning off licenses from former liquor store locations. Next, I-1183 specifically identified that these accumulated "operating and asset sales revenues" were to be applied to "avert harm" to the interests of the "nonemployee liquor store operators under then existing contracts". I-1183 directed that this occur "without limitation". Finally, I-1183 directed that "[t]he department of revenue must develop rules and procedures to address claims that this act unconstitutionally impairs any contract with the state and to provide a means for reasonable compensation of claims it finds valid, funded first from revenues based on spirits licensing and sale under this act."

Without question, passage of I-1183 and the State's subsequent actions resulted in harm that was not averted to the Store Owners in numerous ways: by impairing their Contracts in preventing performance through their Contract term of 2016; by denying Store Owners a return on investment made in reliance upon

the Contract; by impacting the inventory supply to Store Owners prior to the privatization transition; by preventing Store Owners from selling their interests as previously promised following the privatization transition; by preventing Store Owners from making damage averting business decisions based upon the I-1183 transition; by misrepresentations made to Store Owners that following transition a 17% H-class fee (restaurants and bars) would not apply to such sales; as well as a myriad of other harms suffered by the Plaintiff Store Owners. (CP 610-617; 564-569; 630-637; 624-629; 558-563; 638-643; 618-623).

This harm to the Store Owners occurred while the State in turn realized approximately \$31,000,000 in revenue from auctioning off 167 state-run liquor stores. (CP 595-597). Additionally, it was estimated the State was to realize an additional \$36,400,000 from the sale of the State's liquor Distribution Center. (CP 00598). Yet, despite realizing more than \$66,000,000 from its "operating and asset sales revenues", the State refused to abide by I-1183 in failing to apply any of those revenues to "avert harm" suffered by the Store Owners. Further, the State failed to develop any requisite rules and

procedures to address claims that I-1183 had caused harm to the Store Owners. In doing so, the State failed to provide a means for compensating Store Owners for harm not averted. Instead, the State simply ignored the Store Owners' claims and refused to follow the mandates of I-1183.

By refusing to apply the more than \$66,000,000 in available "operating and asset sales revenues" to avert harm suffered by the Store Owners, the State violated the requirements of I-1183. (CP 595-598). In doing so, the State took the position the enacted statute was just "essentially a policy statement". (CP 742-743). This position clearly ignored that I-1183 included specific provisions to account for the harm anticipated to and suffered by Store Owners.

Subsequent to the State's termination of Plaintiffs' contracts and its violations surrounding I-1183, the State presented Plaintiffs with a form contract "amendment" forcing Store Owners to now 'buy' the liquor that had been previously provided to them on 'consignment'. This "amendment" failed to address the fact that Plaintiffs had already begun experiencing harm that the State had been obligated under I-1183 to avert. (CP 564; 610-617; 558-563;

618-623; 638-643; 763-766; 630-637; 771-775; 739-750; 751-762; 776-782; 767-770). As harm to the Store Owners mounted with no redress by the State, Plaintiffs were left with no meaningful economic choice but to sign the State's post-breach "amendment" just in order to remain in business; despite the fact that it was onesided and an agreement of adhesion. (CP 676-770; 751-762; 776-782; 771-775). There was no economic benefit to Plaintiffs in signing any "amendment" after I-1183 was passed except as a hedge against total loss of their business investments. (CP 751-762). This is especially so since the State announced it was going to allow competing distributors to access bars and restaurants in March 2012, to solicit and deliver product, and to engage in flexible pricing. All the while, the Store Owners' fixed prices were made known to the distributors and remained "fixed" by the State until 6/1/12. Id. The Store Owners, if they were to continue operating, were compelled to sign the contract "amendment" in order to be allowed to purchase the inventory that had previously been consigned. (CP 751-762). In fact, the State did commence selling liquor to distributors in direct competition with the Store Owners. (CP 751-762). In turn, the State threatened to postpone inventory audits of the Store Owners and the re-opening of their stores <u>unless</u> they complied with the new "amendment" requirements. <u>Id</u>. As part of its plan to coerce Store Owners during the time prior to 6/1/12, the State refused to provide full orders submitted by the Store Owners, thus leaving the stores less than stocked until 6/1/12. (CP 751-762). For instance, the Farrers' last order was provided at a 45% fill rate. <u>Id</u>. All of this of course seriously harmed the retail sales of the Store Owners.

At the time I-1183 passed, the Store Owners had not yet completed the 5-year term of their contracts. (CP 126 – 489; CP 751-762). The Store Owners had reasonably relied upon the State's representations concerning the length of the contract term. (CP 751-762). Furthermore, when I-1100 and I-1105 – the predecessor privatization efforts were defeated in 2010, the State as an inducement to compel the Store Owners' contracts dismissed those failed efforts telling the Store Owners that "they (the People) try this every few years, but they never succeed". (CP 751-762).

The Store Owners had also been repeatedly told by the State that a 17% licensing fee would not apply to Class H (restaurant and

bar) sales, emphasizing that Class H business could be a huge benefit to the Contract Liquor Stores after privatization. (CP 776-782). However, Store Owners were told that in order to gain the right to solicit Class H business and to make deliveries (actions the State now claims were simply part of complying with RCW 66.24.620) they were required to sign the contract "amendment". Further, the State indicated the terms of the (CP 776-782). "amendment" were not negotiable. Faced with the reality that their Contracts had already been ended by I-1183 and the State had done nothing to avert the harm they were experiencing, Store Owners were essentially optionless if they were to continue with any business after privatization. (CP 776-782). Notably, at the time the State compelled the contract "amendment", the Store Owners were not told that in reality the 17% tax would apply to the Store Owner's Class H sales. (CP 776-782).

It was only after I-1183 passed and the Store Owners' contract rights were taken and destroyed, that the State presented the "amendment" to their Contract. (CP 767-770). The State told the contract Store Owners that they would not be able to purchase their

inventory from the State if they did not sign the "amendment" as an agreement to remain in business. (CP 767-770).

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

Summary Judgment dismissals are reviewed de novo. Huff v. Budbill, 141 Wn.2d 1, 7 (2000). A party moving for summary judgment has the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material fact exists and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). "The burden is on the moving party to demonstrate that there is no issue as to a material fact, and the moving party is held to a strict standard." Scott v. Pac. W. Mountain Resort, 119 Wn.2d 484, 502-03 (1992). The facts along with all reasonable inferences from those facts are considered in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs. Nationwide Mutual Fire Ins. Co. v. Watson, 120 Wn.2d 178, 186 (1992). Any doubts about the existence of a genuine issue of material fact are resolved against the moving party. Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506 (1990). It is not the purpose of CR 56 to cut litigants off from their right to a trial by jury. Burback v. Bucher, 56 Wn.2d 875, 877 (1960). Here, the Trial Court incorrectly interpreted facts and law, ignoring that at the very least, genuine issues of material fact existed with regard to certain of Plaintiffs' claims.

## B. The State Violated Initiative 1183.

1. Undisputedly The State Did Not Comply With The Statute.

"In approving an initiative measure, the people of Washington wield direct legislative power." Pierce County v. State, 150 Wn.2d 422, 430 (2003). Interpretation of an initiative measure requires the Court to ascertain the voters' intent in approving the measure. Id. Voter initiatives are interpreted according to the general rules of statutory construction. City of Spokane v. Taxpayers of City of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 91, 97 (1988). Statutory language must be given its usual and ordinary meaning. Dep't of Revenue v. Hoppe, 82 Wn.2d 549, 552 (1973). When interpreting an initiative, a court focuses on "'the voters' intent and the language of the initiative as the average informed lay voter would read it.'" City of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 91, 97 (1988). If the statute's language is plain on its face, the court must give effect to that plain meaning.

D.O.E. v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 19 (2002). If the question is answered by the plain language of the initiative, the court may not look beyond the express language. Pierce County, Supra., at 430; Brown v. State, 155 Wn.2d 254, 268 (2005).

Under the "plain meaning" rule, examination of the title in which the statute is found, as well as related statutes or chapters of the same act in which the statute is found, is appropriate as part of the determination whether a plain meaning can be ascertained.

D.O.E., supra., at 10. "[A]n act must be construed as a whole, considering all provisions in relation to one another and harmonizing all rather than rendering any superfluous." State v. Bunker, 169 Wn.2d 571, 578 (2010).

In this case, the Trial Court engaged in no such review and failed to interpret the language and intent at issue other than in a vacuum. A review of I-1183 (and the statutes codifying it) as a whole confirms the People's intent to ensure that "operating and asset sales revenues" were to be used to avert harm to Store Owners. This included providing payment for any damages incurred. Here, it is not disputed that the Plaintiff Store Owners suffered severe

economic harm as a result of I-1183. Not only by having their investments destroyed and by having their contracts terminated four years early, but also by the manner in which I-1183 was implemented by the State and the effects allowed to occur to the Store Owners. (CP 00630-637; 00618-623; 00564-569; 00648-654; 00638-643; 00558-563; 00610-617). (See also CP 00599 - "This is too important of a matter for our business future to not have notified each of us via email as you have today with this information.") Despite requests and demands by the Store Owners, the State refused to use the "operating and asset sales revenues" to avert harm, did not take into account the "present value of issuance of a spirits license", did not provide payment to the Store Owners for the harm suffered, and did not provide for the compensation expressly contemplated by the Initiative. (CP 00600-608 - "Former Contract Liquor Store Owners: Demand for compensatory payment from lost sales."). Indeed, the State was even unwilling to provide interpretations to help guide the Store Owners. (See CP 00609 - "I would prefer NOT to provide interpretation.").

The Trial Court erred in not addressing or analyzing the plain language of RCW 66.24.620(b)(6) which created a pool of revenues for the benefit of the Store Owners requiring the State to apply them to avert harm resulting from I-1183. The duty of the State to avert harm was mandatory and "without limitation". The plain language of I-1183 is clear and unambiguous. The Statute specifically created a source of funds in order to avert harm to the Store Owners. The State was supposed to take into account the existing contracts and present value of the retail licenses held by contract. Id. Payments were supposed to be made to the Store Owners to avert any harm, a mandate which the Trial Court simply ignored in its analysis of the State's Summary Judgment Motion.

In addition, I-1183 underscored the clear intent that Store Owners were to be compensated from operating and asset sale revenues in that:

[t]he Department of Revenue must develop rules and procedures to address claims that this act unconstitutionally impairs any contract with the state and to provide a means for reasonable compensation of claims it finds valid, funded first from revenues based on spirits licensing and sale under this act.

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