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

IV. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE

The Court should affirm the superior court's summary judgment order of dismissal because the Board did not breach, and Initiative 1183 did not substantially impair, the Store Owners' contracts. The contracts were terminated according to their own terms, which provided for termination if the Board lost its authority to sell and distribute liquor or by mutual termination. Initiative 1183, which had been filed with the Secretary of State at the time the Store Owners entered into the contracts, withdrew the Board's authority to sell liquor. Thereafter, nine of the Store

Owners' contracts were amended by a mutual agreement changing the termination date to May 31, 2012. The Board then terminated the remaining two Store Owners' contracts. The contracts were neither breached nor impaired.

Additionally, Initiative 1183 did not constitute a taking of the Store Owners' property under the United States or Washington Constitutions. Given the termination clauses in their contracts and the aggressive attempts to privatize liquor, the Store Owners did not have an enforceable right to or expectation of continued benefits. Nor did RCW 66.24.620 create a cause of action for damages because no language in Initiative 1183 directed compensation to former contract liquor store managers.

Finally, the Department did not violate Section 303 of the initiative when it declined to develop rules to address claims that the initiative unconstitutionally impairs contracts with the state because administrative agencies are not authorized to adjudicate the constitutionality of statutes. Instead, the Department properly instructed parties to file such claims directly with a court of competent jurisdiction. The Court should affirm.

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews summary judgments de novo. *E.g.*, *Michael v. Mosquera-Lacy*, 165 Wn.2d 595, 601, 200 P.3d 695, 698 (2009). Under Civil Rule 56(c), a summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith" if the

materials before the court "show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." A "material" fact is one that affects the outcome of the litigation; disputes about facts that do not affect the outcome do not preclude summary judgment. *Elcon Constr., Inc. v. E. Wash. Univ.*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 164, 273 P.3d 965, 969 (2012); *accord Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 2510, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202, 211 (1986) (interpreting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56).

Here, the superior court properly concluded that the Board and the Department were entitled to a judgment as a matter of law and properly dismissed all of the Store Owners' claims.

B. The Superior Court Correctly Ruled That the Liquor Control Board Did Not Breach Its Contracts With the Store Owners Because the Contracts Were Lawfully Terminated According To Their Terms

In the proceedings before the trial court, the Store Owners initially alleged that the Board breached its contracts with them by "unilaterally" terminating the contracts on May 31, 2012. CP 38 (Second Am. Compl. ¶25); CP 565 (Carr declaration in support of Store Owners' motion for summary judgment). Later, the Store Owners contended, as they do now, that the date of the alleged breach was December 8, 2011, when Initiative

1183 took effect. App. Br. at 41-42;⁵ CP 138 (Store Owners' response to state's motion for summary judgment). According to the Store Owners, the sovereign "State" breached and terminated their contracts on that date by enacting the initiative. App. Br. at 7, 13, 41-43. That contention is simply wrong as a matter of fact and law.

The voter-approved change from the former state-controlled liquor distribution system to the current private licensee system did not result in a breach of any contract between the Board and the Store Owners. Instead, the change in the law prohibited the Board from selling liquor, which, in turn, triggered a clause in the contracts permitting the Board to terminate on seven days' notice. CP 149, 182, 215, 248, 281, 315, 348, 381, 414, 447, 480. Consequently, the contracts were terminated according to the express agreement of the parties, specifically the "Termination for Withdrawal of Authority" clause in Paragraph 6.9 of each contract.

In addition, all but two of the Store Owners agreed to a Contract Amendment that expressly changed the termination date of the contracts to May 31, 2012. CP 495, 497, 499, 501, 503, 505, 508, 510, 512. For those Store Owners, their contracts were also terminated in accordance with Paragraph 6.5, which allowed for termination by mutual agreement.

The Store Owners argue that the effective date was either "12/11/11" or "12/8/11." App. Br. at 41-42. The actual effective date was "the thirtieth day after the election at which it is approved." Wash. Const. art. II, § 1(d). The thirtieth day after the November 8, 2011 general election was December 8, 2011.

1. The contracts with all of the Store Owners were lawfully terminated in accordance with Paragraph 6.9 of the contracts' General Terms and Conditions

While nine of the 11 Store Owners mutually agreed to accelerate the termination date of their contracts to May 31, 2012, from June 30, 2016, all of the Store Owners' contracts provided for termination by the Board if the Board's authority to sell liquor were subsequently withdrawn.

Initiative 1183 did not terminate the Store Owners' contracts, as the Store Owners now claim. App. Br. at 41. Instead, it directed the Board to "complete the orderly transition from the current state-controlled system to the private licensee system of spirits retailing and distribution as required under this chapter by June 1, 2012." RCW 66.24.620(6)(a). The Board accomplished that requirement, in part, by exercising its rights under the terms of its contracts with the Store Owners. At the time the contracts were being finalized, Initiative 1183 had already been filed with the Secretary of State, and liquor privatization measures had recently been on the ballot. Thus, not surprisingly, the contracts anticipated that the Board's authority to sell liquor through contract liquor stores could be withdrawn. Specifically, Paragraph 6.9 of each contract provided, "in the event that the WSLCB's authority to perform any of its duties relating to this Contracts is withdrawn... the WSLCB may terminate this Contract,

in whole or in part, by seven (7) calendar day's written notice to Contractor." CP 149, 182, 215, 248, 281, 315, 348, 381, 414, 447, 480.

Initiative 1183 withdrew the Board's authority to sell liquor through contract liquor stores after May 31, 2012. RCW 66.24.620(2). In April 2012, the Board gave the required seven days' notice of termination by providing to each of the Store Owners a proposed agreement specifying the terms under which the Store Owners could purchase the inventory in their stores as of May 31. CP 513-554. Paragraph G of the April 2012 agreements specified that the Store Owners could continue selling liquor for the Board after May 31, 2012, only if a court enjoined implementation of Initiative 1183. CP 516, 520, 524, 528, 533, 537, 541, 545, 549, 553, 557. All of the Store Owners agreed to these terms. CP 513-554. On May 31, 2012, this Court determined that Initiative 1183 did not violate article II, section 19 of the Washington Constitution. *WASAVP*, 174 Wn.2d at 646, 665. The Court did not enjoin implementation, and retail liquor sales under the new privatized system began the next day.

The Store Owners apparently argue that only a repeal of the 21st Amendment to the United States Constitution could "withdraw" the Board's authority within the meaning of Paragraph 6.9. App. Brf. at 7; see CP 575-76 (Pls.' Mem. Supp. Mot. Partial Summ. J.). However, the 21st Amendment is not the source of the State's authority to regulate liquor

sales within its boundaries. States have always had that authority as part of their sovereign police powers. *See Rice v. Rehner*, 463 U.S. 713, 724, 103 S. Ct. 3291, 3298, 77 L. Ed. 2d 961, 973 (1983) (California's interest in liquor traffic within its borders "is independent of the authority conferred on the States by the Twenty-First Amendment"); *Bartemeyer*, 85 U.S. (18 Wall.) at 132, 21 L. Ed. at 930. Here, Washington voters exercised those powers by enacting Initiative 1183.

The Board properly terminated the Store Owners' contracts in accordance with the parties' agreement in Paragraph 6.9 of the original contracts. There was no breach, and the superior court correctly granted summary judgment to the Respondents on that issue. CP 819, 837, 855.

2. Nine of the Store Owners' contracts were lawfully terminated by mutual agreement under Paragraph 6.5 of the General Terms and Conditions

Paragraph 6.5 of the general terms and conditions in each of the Store Owners' contracts provided that "[t]he WSLCB and the Contractor may terminate this Contract in whole or in part, at any time, by mutual agreement." CP 148, 181, 214, 247, 280, 314, 347, 380, 413, 446, 479. In January 2012, after Initiative 1183 passed, nine of the Store Owners signed a Contract Amendment that expressly amended the terms "to reflect a contract expiration date of May 31, 2012, unless extended by the Board in writing, or terminated prior to May 31, 2012 pursuant to sections

6.2, or 6.4 through 6.9 of the Contract." CP 495, 497, 499, 501, 503, 505, 508, 510, 512. In addition, the Contract Amendment recited that the "changes authorized are within the scope of the original contract." *Id.* According to Paragraph 4.5 of the general terms and conditions of each original contract, "[a]ny written commitment by Contractor within the scope of this Contract shall be binding upon Contractor." CP 176, 209, 275, 309, 342, 375, 408, 441, 474.

The words used in the Contract and the Contract Amendment clearly show that the parties intended the contracts to expire on May 31, 2012. There was no breach when the Board ceased performance after that date, because that was the termination date expressly agreed to by the parties, as the superior court recognized. CP 819, 837, 855.

According to the Store Owners, however, the Contract Amendment was a "post-breach" amendment for which there was no consideration. They contend that their contracts with the Board had already been terminated because the "State" breached the contracts by enacting Initiative 1183. App. Br. at 11, 13, 42-43. The Store Owners are incorrect. Their contracts were with the Board, a state agency, not the sovereign State. 6 CP 127, 160, 193, 226, 259, 293, 326, 359, 392, 425,

The sovereign State of Washington is a party to some contracts, such as interstate compacts. An example is the Columbia River Gorge Compact between Washington and Oregon. See Ch. 43.97 RCW; 16 U.S.C. § 544c.

458; see also CP 50 (Second Am. Compl ¶ 67) (alleging that the Store Owners had contracts "with the Liquor Control Board"). As an administrative agency created by statute, the Board may exercise only those powers conferred by the legislature, which do not include the power to enact legislation. Anderson, Leech & Morse, Inc. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 89 Wn.2d 688, 694, 575 P.2d 221, 225 (1978). Washington voters, not the Board, enacted Initiative 1183. The Store Owners' contracts were with the Board, not the voters. The contracts contained no promise that the voters would not change the law.

Moreover, there was consideration for the Contract Amendment.

In exchange for the Store Owners' agreement to change the termination date, the Board surrendered some of its rights under the contracts by agreeing to the following:

Permitting the Store Owners to store liquor they bought from private distributors at off-site locations. Under Section 102(1) of Initiative 1183, sales by licensed private spirits distributors became legal on March 1, 2012. The Contract Amendment allowed the Store Owners to acquire inventory before sales by licensed spirits retailers became legal on June 1, 2012. The original contracts did not allow the Store Owners to store any liquor at off-site locations. See, e.g., CP 174, 175 (¶¶ 2.6, 2.10).

- Permitting the Store Owners to solicit accounts from restaurants and nightclubs, so that they could compete with licensed private spirits distributors. The original contracts prohibited such solicitation. See, e.g., CP 174 (¶ 2.4).
- Permitting the Store Owners to deliver liquor to restaurants and nightclubs, so that they could compete with licensed private spirits distributors. The original contracts prohibited such deliveries.

 See, e.g., CP 175 (¶.2.10).
- Permitting the Store Owners to terminate the contract on 30 days' notice if they wished to discontinue liquor sales. The original contracts required 180 days' notice. See, e.g., CP 181 (¶ 6.4).

CP 495, 497, 499, 501, 503, 505, 508, 510, 512; see CP 707. Reciprocal surrender of contractual rights is sufficient consideration for a contract amendment. Rosellini v. Banchero, 83 Wn.2d 268, 272, 517 P.2d 955, 958 (1974). This Court should reject the Store Owners' argument that there was no consideration for the Contract Amendment in this case.

Alternatively, the Store Owners assert that the Contract Amendment was unconscionable and unenforceable. App. Br. at 42-43. To evaluate that assertion, the Court should consider the circumstances when the Store Owners entered into the original contracts in June 2011. See Jeffery v. Weintraub, 32 Wn. App. 536, 544, 648 P.2d 914, 919-20

(1982). The Store Owners knew or should have known there had been recent liquor privatization efforts. *See* CP 754-55; App. Br. at 12. The possibility that a new law could withdraw the Board's authority to sell liquor through contract liquor stores was foreseen and provided for in the contracts, specifically in Paragraph 6.9 of the general terms and conditions. CP 149, 182, 215, 248, 281, 315, 348, 381, 414, 447, 480. The Store Owners have never contended that they were forced to sign the June 2011 contracts, and they knowingly accepted the risks. The fact that those risks materialized a few months later did not make the Contract Amendment unconscionable.

3. The Store Owners' alleged subjective reliance on the original contract term creates no issue as to any material fact

The Store Owners contend that they made financial investments in reliance on the original contract expiration date. App. Br. at 5-6, 8-9, 12, 20, 22-23, 41. In some cases, those investments were made years before the 2011 contracts were even executed. CP 610-12, 631, 639. The Store Owners' alleged subjective intent is not supported by the express contract language, however. Paragraph 6.9 of the general terms and conditions of each contract permitted the Board to terminate the contract on seven days' notice if the Board's authority to perform was withdrawn "after the

commencement of this Contract and prior to normal completion." CP 149, 182, 215, 248, 281, 315, 348, 381, 414, 447, 480.

Where, as here, the parties' intent can be determined from the actual words used in the contract, subjective intent is irrelevant. *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-04, 115 P.3d 262, 267 (2005). The Store Owners' alleged subjective intent that the contracts would remain in effect until 2016 creates no issue as to any "material" fact under CR 56. Based on the express language of the contracts and the other undisputed evidence in the record, there was no breach when the Board ceased performance after May 31, 2012. The contracts were lawfully terminated according to their terms, and the superior court properly dismissed the Store Owners' breach of contract claim. CP 819, 837, 855.

C. The Superior Court Correctly Ruled That Initiative 1183 Did Not Substantially Impair the Contracts Between the Store Owners and the Liquor Control Board

The Store Owners contend that Initiative 1183 impaired their contractual relationships with the Board in violation of article I, section 23 of the Washington Constitution, and article I, section 10 of the United States Constitution. App. Br. at 37. Initiative 1183 is presumed to be constitutional. *WASAVP*, 174 Wn.2d at 654. A party seeking to invalidate an initiative on constitutional grounds must establish that the provision is

unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 205, 11 P.3d 762, 780 (2000). The Store Owners have not met that burden.

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